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          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'm Gale Brewer,

          3  and I Chair the Council Committee on Technology in

          4  Government.  And I'm delighted that we are

          5  co-chairing this hearing today with the Committee on

          6  Housing and Buildings.

          7                 As you'll hear from my esteemed

          8  colleague, who is a member of that Committee, and in

          9  the leadership, Council Member Madeline Provenzano,

         10  who is the Chair and unable to be here, but we're

         11  delighted to have a wonderful Chair in her place for

         12  the day, Council Member Comrie.  And also we have

         13  here Council Member Tony Avella, is a wonderful

         14  community planner, in terms of his work on his

         15  Committee and he is also a member of the Housing

         16  Committee.

         17                 I'm here today because we have a

         18  resolution that would provide high-speed internet

         19  access to affordable housing residents at low and no

         20  cost. And we're here particularly because around the

         21  United States there is a lot of discussion about

         22  what wireless is. The fact that as in higher income

         23  individuals living in apartments, you'll hear that

         24  many have very high- speed access and you'll hear

         25  about the City of Philadelphia which is attempting,
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          2  hasn't been successful yet, to become a wireless

          3  City. Here in our City, there is a lot discussion

          4  about putting antennas on the top of poles. It's

          5  controversial in one sense in terms of health issues

          6  and it's also controversial in the sense that does

          7  it provide for everyone in all parts of our City.

          8  And, of course, it is also positive because we're

          9  all trying to be a City in which we have access to

         10  information that is helpful for our jobs, for our

         11  future, for our families, for healthcare. And

         12  obviously if it's not inexpensive and it's not fast,

         13  then people are not going to access it.

         14                 I'm delighted to be here to talk

         15  about this resolution. We'll hear testimony from a

         16  variety of different folks. I just want to mention

         17  in terms of our Committee, the Committee on

         18  Technology that our next hearing is December 9, at

         19  1:00 p.m., on the 16th Floor here at 250 Broadway

         20  and we're going to talk about the fact that we want

         21  to encourage the City agencies to provide reports on

         22  a regular basis as to what they're doing via

         23  telecommunications. That's something that is

         24  mandated actually by the charter and we'll be doing

         25  an oversight hearing on those types of reports. So
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          2  without further ado, I'd like to introduce and thank

          3  the Housing Committee, in particular, Council Member

          4  Leroy Comrie for being here today.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

          6  Council Member Brewer. We've also been joined by our

          7  minority leader, James Oddo from Staten Island. I

          8  just want to thank Council Member Brewer and her

          9  Committee for this issue. Council Member Provenzano

         10  regrets missing this meeting, but she had an

         11  immediate situation that required her attention in

         12  the district. I want to thank Council Member Brewer

         13  for inviting us in Housing and Building Committee to

         14  share in today's hearing.

         15                 While many of the technical and

         16  specifics today may be new to us, I'm sure that our

         17  discussion will be very informative. In the past,

         18  the Committee on Housing and Buildings has looked

         19  very intensely at affordable housing development. We

         20  have also discussed the use of new technology by

         21  agencies such as the Department of Buildings and the

         22  Department of Housing Preservation and Development.

         23  However, those discussions have been confined to the

         24  use of technology in order for the agencies

         25  themselves to be more efficient.
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          2                 Today, instead of looking at the use

          3  of technology internally, we will turn our focus to

          4  how the agency can facilitate the use of technology

          5  externally by helping to provide broadband internet

          6  access to the residents of affordable government

          7  subsidized housing. I'm looking forward to hearing

          8  from HPD as well as the many housing developers and

          9  advocates for affordable housing who will be joining

         10  us today. In addition, to providing safe and

         11  affordable housing to low- income New Yorkers, it is

         12  important for us to search for solutions that will

         13  alleviate the underlying situations of poverty.

         14  Providing free or low- cost broadband internet

         15  access will be one step in that process. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much. I also want to thank Bruce Lye (phonetic) who

         18  is the Policy Analyst to the Committee on Technology

         19  and Sarah Marks who is here on the Housing side.

         20  Without further ado, we'd like to welcome Howard

         21  Shultz who is a long- time special council to the

         22  New York City Department of Housing Preservation and

         23  Development. I've obviously long time, it's because

         24  I'm also long- time. He has for many years been

         25  involved in legal and programmatic issues involving
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          2  housing. He's worked on lead paint law, homeless

          3  housing, the City's new methods of tax foreclosure

          4  and particularly third- party transfer. And he's

          5  been at HPD for 28 years and he's had senior

          6  positions during that entire time. I remember him as

          7  the Attorney Representative Agency and Code

          8  Enforcement Litigation in Housing Court. He's also

          9  spent some years with the Mayor's Office of

         10  Contracts. He graduated from New York University and

         11  Boston University Law School. Thank you very much,

         12  sir.

         13                 MR. SHULTZ: Thank you very much

         14  Chairperson Brewer. I'd forgotten some of those

         15  things myself.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I haven't.

         17                 MR. SHULTZ: Good afternoon,

         18  Chairperson Brewer and Council Member Comrie and

         19  members of the committees. My name is Harold Shultz

         20  and I'm Special Council to HPD. You've asked us here

         21  today to testify on the feasibility of wiring new

         22  affordable housing developments and rehabilitated

         23  units for broadband internet access. As I hear the

         24  delta tones of Microsoft in the background,

         25  appropriate music to continue to.
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          2                 HPD and NYCHA support these goals and

          3  in fact, have already taken steps to implement them

          4  over the past several years. Unfortunately, these

          5  pilot projects have run into a number of problems

          6  which have prevented us from reaching the desired

          7  goal. First we need to separate the four elements of

          8  providing internet access. These are: 1) providing

          9  the needed wiring from the apartment unit to a

         10  common area of the building. 2) Providing and

         11  maintaining a network, including buildings on a

         12  campus to each other and campus to campus, the

         13  development of a metropolitan area network in some

         14  cases, and a connection to the internet for that

         15  network. 3) Providing training, help services, and

         16  computers to the tenants or homeowners who are going

         17  to access the internet, and 4) providing information

         18  and websites appropriate to the needs of the people

         19  expected to live in the housing that we provide.

         20                 HPD and NYCHA have, in pilot

         21  projects, provided the first element of these four

         22  for eventual internet access. HPD has wired

         23  approximately 100 buildings with ethernet cable from

         24  the apartments to the basements of each building. In

         25  order to ensure provision of intercom service, NYCHA
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          2  has wired 24,000 units, at a cost of nearly $40

          3  million. The fourth element appropriate content will

          4  be available on NYCHA's newly redesigned webset for

          5  anyone with internet connectivity. NYCHA has met

          6  with One Economy about their specially designed

          7  website, TheBeehive.org, which offers appropriate

          8  content, free e- mail and various learning modules.

          9  A link to TheBeehive.org site will be included in a

         10  soon to be released redesign of NYCHA's website.

         11                 However, both agencies have found

         12  that there is a lack of providers willing to build

         13  and maintain the networks in the buildings and to

         14  provide the internet connection at a reasonable

         15  cost. HPD has also found an unwillingness among some

         16  of our building operators to manage the networks

         17  needed to provide internet access.

         18                 We  are aware of a few different

         19  groups who provide comprehensive programs of

         20  content, training, computer access, and employment

         21  services. One group, who provides some of these

         22  services is One Economy, who I believe will be

         23  testifying today. We have already had preliminary

         24  meetings with them to solicit their input on how we

         25  might be able to achieve our objective. We are
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          2  planning on additional meetings so that we might

          3  jointly review our efforts in this area and see if

          4  there are other ways to achieve our common

          5  objective.

          6                 Thank you, and I'll be happy to take

          7  your questions. Since NYCHA is testifying at another

          8  Council hearing that was also scheduled for 1:00

          9  today, they're not able to be here. If you have

         10  questions related to NYCHA's efforts, which I can't

         11  answer, I will forward them along and we'll get back

         12  to you with those answers.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         14  much, Harold. I have a couple and I'm sure others do

         15  also. We have heard that it's on the provider side.

         16  Sometimes it's hard to find the right mix. But I'm

         17  just wondering, have you given any thought to low-

         18  income tax credits or any other funding so that

         19  there would be possibilities of those who would

         20  install high- speed data work net or provide

         21  computers and units. Obviously, you'll need some

         22  kind of connection

         23                 MR. SHULTZ: We have not yet

         24  considered using low- income tax credits to

         25  subsidize internet operations since we still are in
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          2  the process of finishing up our disposition programs

          3  and are frankly trying to use every dollar we can

          4  generate in tax credits to both do more units and to

          5  lower rents. We have considered the possibility of

          6  utilizing the tax credit process to give extra

          7  points or advantage to people applying for tax

          8  credits. However, that really is something that

          9  would be in the future when we really start having

         10  competitive processes for tax credit. Since now as I

         11  say, we're still using the tax credits primarily to

         12  finish our disposition programs. The process by

         13  which we do it doesn't currently allow for that kind

         14  of competition.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The other

         16  question I have is, DoIT is working on the pole and

         17  tennis for different lamp posts around the City of

         18  New York. Those RFP's have been responded too and

         19  companies are, I assume, in the process of

         20  installing. My question is, do you have any contact

         21  with DoIT particularly for some of your in- rems or

         22  TILs or those that are already obviously part of a

         23  low- income co- op which would be a renovation

         24  perhaps as opposed to new construction where there

         25  would be some coordination between some of this pole
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          2  top opportunities in some of your buildings. Is that

          3  any kind of discussions along those lines?

          4                 MR. SHULTZ: No, there hasn't been any

          5  discussions along those lines as of now. But we

          6  expect as part of the process that we've started in

          7  the last couple of weeks to review this that those

          8  discussions will occur.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I hope this

         10  hearing helps households. Are there any more

         11  questions down here from any of my colleagues?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes, I just

         13  wanted to explain that there is another hearing

         14  going on. Harold mentioned it earlier that has

         15  probably the other half of the committee from

         16  Housing and Building over there since it's a housing

         17  subcommittee at NYCHA. I just was curious, what is

         18  One Economy? You mentioned it twice in here. What is

         19  One Economy?

         20                 MR. SHULTZ: Yes, they are a group

         21  that has promoted the topic of providing internet

         22  access in subsidized housing. They have built a

         23  website, TheBeehive.org. They have worked with a

         24  variety of folks across the country to have low cost

         25  internet access provided to in- subsidized housing
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          2  developments. They'll be testifying here later, I

          3  see on the charts. So I'm sure they'll be happy to

          4  provide you in detail with what it is that they do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You said that

          6  you already wired a 100 buildings with cable to

          7  provide intercom service at $40 million. That's not

          8  necessary internet service is it?

          9                 MR. SHULTZ: Correct. Actually let me

         10  separate those two things. NYCHA has wired about

         11  24,000 units as part of their upgrading and intercom

         12  work. What they did was instead of pulling just one

         13  wire for the intercom, they basically pulled a

         14  thicker cable that had a bunch of wires in it

         15  including a wire that would enable the provision of

         16  internet service. Basically it's called an ethernet

         17  cable. So there is ethernet wiring in these 24,000

         18  units. Of course, the problem with that is that

         19  you've got the cable that now goes from the

         20  apartment to the basement, someone now in the

         21  basement has to put together several things. One,

         22  they have to put in the equipment that takes all

         23  those wires and makes them a single network so there

         24  is equipment that it has to be plugged into down

         25  there. And then whatever that equipment is, it has
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          2  to be connected to an internet service provider to

          3  actually provide internet service.

          4                 Then, of course, you have to have a

          5  structure that deals with the inevitable questions

          6  and problems that will occur from people who are

          7  attempting to use it. While the wire infrastructure

          8  is there, the stumbling point has been finding the

          9  provider willing to run the network in the building,

         10  provide the internet access, how to deal with the

         11  help situation problem and other things.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you. You

         13  think over time that with the involvement of these

         14  other programs and maybe training programs, there

         15  could be some in- house training for young people in

         16  the building to be self- sufficient in developing

         17  and maintaining the networks. It may be an

         18  opportunity for HPD and NYCHA to do some in- house

         19  job training for a lot of young people. As you know,

         20  young people tend to understand technology a lot

         21  better than the other older people in the room, not

         22  counting myself. It might be a good opportunity for

         23  some job training and job development. So I want to

         24  throw that out for food for thought.

         25                 MR. SHULTZ: Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Just to go back

          4  to the 100 units that you mentioned are obviously

          5  new construction, I assume.

          6                 MR. SHULTZ: They were either new

          7  construction actually or probably substantial gut

          8  rehabs.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I know that you

         10  said that you are thinking about this now. But in

         11  terms, how many units do you have that are converted

         12  now to co- ops in terms of your TIL buildings?

         13  Approximately?

         14                 MR. SHULTZ: I don't know how many

         15  units. I know there are approximately a 1,000 TIL

         16  buildings.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Would there be

         18  some discussion about those buildings in particular

         19  or would that go through U- HAB or some of the other

         20  organizations? How would we think about those

         21  buildings perhaps being part of this technology

         22  revolution in some way?

         23                 MR. SHULTZ: There are a number of

         24  ways to think about it. And there are a number of

         25  technologies on the horizon which could deal with
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          2  this issue. One of them is they're various

          3  proposals, for example, that are currently being

          4  worked on for what's called WIMAC (phonetic) which

          5  is wide area wireless access.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes, I'm familiar

          7  with that.

          8                 MR. SHULTZ: If that was done, then

          9  presumably the only real cost you have then is the

         10  computer, the interface card and providing the

         11  actually monthly service. That might be an

         12  expectation down the road as to how other buildings

         13  might do that. Now the other thing, of course, is in

         14  one respect every apartment in New York City is

         15  already wired for broadband and that's anybody who

         16  has a phone or cable service can get broadband.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It's not cheap

         18  though.

         19                 MR. SHULTZ: Right. The only issue

         20  with that is not cheap. Although once again, we've

         21  already seen the price for this declining

         22  substantially. This morning on the radio I heard one

         23  provider offering broadband service for $19.95 a

         24  month. Although, it was a teaser rate, it does

         25  suggest to us that rates are coming down to a point
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          2  where they may well be affordable to everyone.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Obviously, the

          4  Housing Authority works to try to implement many of

          5  these ideas as best he can. Do you coordinate in

          6  terms of some of his efforts? Obviously, some of

          7  your buildings are in proximity to developments and

          8  some not. Is there like a technology coordination in

          9  terms of housing that goes on?

         10                 MR. SHULTZ: Yes, our technology

         11  people both at HPD and NYCHA talk to each other

         12  regularly because we have a variety of common

         13  technical issues.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         15                 MR. SHULTZ: We share information on a

         16  regular basis.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Are there

         18  any other questions?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Does HPD have

         20  plans to encourage installation of computers or

         21  networks in all of their new gut rehab or new

         22  development work?

         23                 MR. SHULTZ: Frankly, not currently

         24  until we solve the provider problem. Once we solve

         25  the provider problem that's a big part of it.
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          2  Frankly, running the wire from the apartment to the

          3  basement in a rehab is not that big a deal. The

          4  problem is what do you do with it afterwards.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you are

          6  committed to running the wire? And the wire is

          7  pretty much standard.

          8                 MR. SHULTZ: I must say when we did

          9  about 100 buildings and we were unable to get

         10  service providers, frankly, we stopped doing it. Now

         11  we would consider going back to it if the service

         12  provider problem is solved.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you talked

         14  extensively about the service provider already.

         15  Hopefully, we can bridge those issues sooner rather

         16  than later.

         17                 MR. SHULTZ: Yes, actually we're

         18  hoping that perhaps One Economy or other non- profit

         19  groups that work in this field can assist us in

         20  doing so.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. The

         23  only other question is on the training front, again

         24  that would be I guess a Rob Walsh small business/DOE

         25  kind of discussion. But it does seem to me where you
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          2  have as Council Member Comrie said individuals in

          3  buildings who are often in need of a job, there

          4  should be some at least discussion with some of the

          5  One Stops regarding training possibilities, your

          6  buildings and NYCHA, to think about as a career. I

          7  did speak in preparation for this hearing was

          8  somebody who has had a company in this area who has

          9  done some of the provider, I think it was bought out

         10  by Verizon. Another story. The fact of the matter is

         11  that working with Wedco (phonetic), for instance,

         12  which as you know a non- profit that trains women,

         13  but families in general for job and other aspects to

         14  self- sufficiency. But there has been some

         15  discussion about training. I think that my Council

         16  Members might not know all the terms, but we all

         17  know that these are new areas of growth in terms of

         18  housing and technology and hopefully for some aspect

         19  of employment, there could be more self- sufficient

         20  in the buildings. I do think that there should be

         21  some discussion along those lines.

         22                 MR. SHULTZ: Yes, I certainly think

         23  there should be some discussion especially since for

         24  many of the HPD buildings, the providing service is

         25  kind of a unique problem because we do a lot of
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          2  three and four unit buildings, one homeowner and a

          3  couple of tenants. For that homeowner to provide

          4  that service, they're clearly going to need to go

          5  probably to someone else. Once again, it's not clear

          6  whether or not any big provider will ever be

          7  interested in doing anything that small. They're

          8  clearly going to have to be looking at the

          9  neighborhood level for someone who's prepared to do

         10  a bunch of buildings and include them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And the

         12  discussion with the antennas on the poles is that

         13  will those antennas, will the company feel there is

         14  enough market in places where you're buildings are

         15  and if not, is there a non- profit in the area or

         16  civic association or business improvement district

         17  or something like that, that might come together

         18  which again, is not solely your responsibility. But

         19  if we're trying to cut the digital divide as much as

         20  possible, in this case the home digital divide, we

         21  need to be thinking more creatively in the

         22  neighborhoods about how to bring that service to the

         23  community. It's not just an economic development

         24  issue, it's also a home divide issue. I just urge

         25  you to work with NYCHA and, I guess, DoIT and the
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          2  small business to think about that. The whole out of

          3  the box, I think.

          4                 MR. SHULTZ: We will.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          6  much, Harold Shultz. Thank you. Our next witnesses

          7  are Mark Levine is the Vice President of One Economy

          8  Corporation and I'm also going to ask Shawn Bell

          9  (phonetic) to join him. He's President and CEO of

         10  the Mt. Hope Housing Company. Mark Levine is over

         11  the last decade has helped build non- profit

         12  organizations in the economic development and

         13  education sectors. He has founded in the past Credit

         14  Where Credit is Due, a community based non- profit

         15  working to promote economic empowerment in upper

         16  Manhattan. This particular CWCID, this particular

         17  organization created a community development credit

         18  union neighborhood trust which is grown to have many

         19  members and $5 million in assets and given out many

         20  loans. He's also been a Executive Director of

         21  Teacher America in New York. And he currently serves

         22  as Vice President for programs at One Economy which

         23  is a national non- profit working to empower low-

         24  income families through technology. He has a Masters

         25  from Harvard Kennedy School and he is here today and

                                                            22

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  I hope at some point, Mark, we can put your beehive

          3  up on the screen.

          4                 MR. LEVINE: That would be wonderful.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: After you're

          6  finished, I'll introduce Shawn Bell.

          7                 MR. LEVINE: Great. Thank you,

          8  Chairperson Brewer and thank you Council Member

          9  Comrie for allowing us to speak today. My name again

         10  is Mark Levine and I'm Vice President for programs

         11  at One Economy. As the Councilwoman said, we are a

         12  national non- profit working to use technology as a

         13  vehicle for helping low- income people enter the

         14  economic mainstream. And I want to take a moment to

         15  thank Mr. Shultz and HPD for their comments and for

         16  their enthusiasm for working with us on this issue.

         17  We had a number of very productive discussions with

         18  them to date. And I also liked the way that Mr.

         19  Shultz laid out the four challenges. Because those

         20  are four areas that we've had significant experience

         21  with and I'll try to speak to that if I can today.

         22                 At One Economy, we believe that the

         23  most debilitating aspect of poverty is isolation.

         24  Isolation based on geography, education level, and

         25  even discrimination. It's our belief that
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          2  technology, specifically the internet, has the

          3  potential to help low- income New Yorkers leap over

          4  each of these barriers. But if access to the

          5  internet is going to truly impact the lives of low-

          6  income families, there is one place above all others

          7  where families must have access and that's the home.

          8  Where else can a single mother go online if her only

          9  free time is at 10:00 p.m. After her children are

         10  asleep? Where else can she feel comfortable looking

         11  up health and financial issues so sensitive that she

         12  wouldn't be comfortable viewing them in a public

         13  terminal? Where else is it so easy for a parent to

         14  teach a child or a child to teach a parent about the

         15  power of technology?

         16                 Increasingly, it's obvious that to

         17  tap the full potential of the multi- media internet,

         18  there is no substitute for having an internet access

         19  which is a high- speed connection. But here's the

         20  unfortunate reality: The cost of a home- based

         21  broadband internet connection at $40 per month or

         22  more, remains an expensive luxury for families

         23  living paycheck- to- paycheck or on public

         24  assistance or working at minimum wage. And the

         25  result is that for the estimated 70 percent of New
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          2  Yorkers (and that is our estimate), who currently

          3  cannot afford access, the power of the internet is

          4  simply out of reach.

          5                 But there is good news. Local

          6  governments across the nation are implementing an

          7  ingenious solution to this problem and because of

          8  their actions thousands of low- income families are

          9  now coming on- line for the first time. Here's how

         10  it works. Developers of affordable housing are

         11  installing data networks in their properties

         12  analogous to what many of us have in our offices.

         13  Unlike at the home, where each of us has our own

         14  retail direct connection to the internet, in offices

         15  we usually share access with a large number of

         16  fellow employees. By sharing access in the home as

         17  we do in the office, the cost per user plummets.

         18                 At One Economy, we've been working

         19  with houses around New York City and around the

         20  country to install such data networks in their

         21  apartments, run the wiring in the basement, tie the

         22  units together through networking equipment and

         23  connect the properties in one fat pipe or broad

         24  connection to the internet. This gets each family

         25  their own broadband connection at an on- going cost
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          2  of a third or even a quarter of the market rate. In

          3  some cases, the prices goes so low as little as $10

          4  or less, that houses elect to deliver the service to

          5  residents for free. And if implemented at the time

          6  of construction or during significant rehabilitation

          7  work, the cost for installing these data networks

          8  averages just $200 per unit. This is not just a good

          9  idea in theory, it actually works in practice. So

         10  that's why I'm happy to have Shawn who in a moment

         11  will speak about the successful effort to implement

         12  this technology not too far from here in the Bronx.

         13                 The power of these data networks can

         14  be further enhanced for houses who give their

         15  residents access to empowering content on- line.

         16  That's why One- Economy is created our own multi-

         17  media, bilingual web initiative called TheBeehive.

         18  And now Shawn if you've got that working, this will

         19  be the moment to cue you. No such luck. TheBeehive

         20  is a multi- lingual, multi- media effort which will

         21  help low- income users understand how to make the

         22  most of their money, how to obtain affordable

         23  healthcare, how to find affordable childcare, enroll

         24  in GED courses and much, much more.

         25                 Houses themselves directly benefit
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          2  from the data networks we're talking about

          3  installing. When they start too, for example,

          4  exchange maintenance tickets with residents on- line

          5  or they can save money by regulating heat in the

          6  building through temperature monitors in the

          7  individual units. All this is made possible by

          8  having a high- speed data network in the building.

          9  In fact, the benefits of this technology are so

         10  compelling that as of today no less than 20 states

         11  and the District of Columbia, ranging from

         12  California to Kentucky and just last week, Texas,

         13  have amended their housing finance policies to

         14  encourage all new development of affordable housing

         15  to include high- speed internet access through the

         16  types of networks that I've described.

         17                 I think it's time that New York acted

         18  to do the same. So I'm excited that New York City

         19  Council is considering a resolution to make this

         20  vision a reality here in New York.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much. We'd like to hear from Shawn Bell who's

         23  President and CEO of the Mt. Hope Housing Company, a

         24  Bronx based community development corporation that

         25  has developed and manages over 100 million of
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          2  affordable housing and provides many other services

          3  such as real- estate management and development,

          4  employment, youth services, technology, and

          5  individual asset development initiatives. He's also

          6  managing director of the consortium of management

          7  consultants, a private corporation specializing in

          8  real estate development and management. He's a

          9  graduate of Howard University and Columbia

         10  University Institute for Non- Profit Management in

         11  the same at Harvard University. Welcome.

         12                 MR. BELL: Thank you. It's a pleasure

         13  to be here and I'm excited to really talk about what

         14  we're doing up in the Bronx. As President and Chief

         15  Executive Officer of an organization that provides

         16  affordable housing and vital services to residents

         17  of a low- income community in the South Bronx, I've

         18  witnessed first hand the effects that technology has

         19  in working families. Computers and the internet

         20  allow our residents to obtain skills necessary for

         21  today's jobs. They provide our youth with resources

         22  for learning and outlets for creative endeavors.

         23  They allow our residents to manage their finances

         24  which would otherwise spin out of control. They

         25  provide people with ability to discover local
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          2  resources such as health clinics, banks, and find

          3  answers to their questions and concerns.

          4                 This is particularly important for

          5  the large number of immigrant and non- English

          6  speaking residents in our community. Computers allow

          7  people to become self- sufficient. On- line access

          8  opens new worlds for our residents and allows them

          9  to see the opportunities outside of their

         10  neighborhoods. According to the U.S. Department of

         11  Commerce, in 2001, nearly 79 percent of people of

         12  families making over $75,000 or more had internet

         13  access compared to 25 percent of people from

         14  households earning less $15,000 a year. College

         15  graduates are eight times more likely to have a

         16  computer in their household and are nearly 16 times

         17  as likely to have home internet access as those

         18  without a college degree.

         19                 This fact means low- income residents

         20  face an even greater challenge in obtaining today's

         21  jobs. To narrow this gap, the Mt. Hope Housing

         22  Company is working to bridge this digital divide

         23  through our new technology initiative. We've

         24  partnered with Verizon Avenue to provide broadband

         25  internet service in all 1,250 of units. We're also
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          2  working with Proscala (phonetic), another Bronx

          3  based non- profit to provide refurbish computers for

          4  families.

          5                 One Economy is helping us to develop

          6  the Bronx Beehive, an interactive website with

          7  resources and information locally linked for

          8  families on issues ranging from education to health

          9  and housing. Mt. Hope will provide our residents

         10  with computer training and technical support. We

         11  will create new employment opportunities through the

         12  development of our help desk operated by residents

         13  who have gone through this training. Through these

         14  partnerships, Mt. Hope is opening the door to

         15  opportunity for residents of this low- income

         16  community.

         17                 However, this program is just the

         18  beginning. These private organizations have

         19  recognized the need to bridge digital divide and to

         20  bring technology of the 21st century to communities

         21  that truly need it the most. To ensure this program

         22  can continue to serve the growing low- income

         23  populations, not only the South Bronx, but of the

         24  entire City and to make sure these families receive

         25  the opportunities they deserve. The support of our
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          2  City agencies is desperately needed.

          3                 Everyday my office receives calls

          4  from residents who are eager to get on the internet.

          5  These calls from parents who want their children to

          6  be able to research their homework assignments like

          7  their classmates do. They come from single mothers

          8  and fathers who want to search for new jobs to

          9  better their current situations. We're working to

         10  answer their calls, but the City must recognize

         11  their voices as well. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you both

         13  very much for your efforts and your innovation and

         14  for thinking outside the box which is what it's all

         15  about. I have a couple of questions. One is, you

         16  heard Mr. Shultz earlier, who I think is a long-

         17  time supporter of thinking in creative ways. But I

         18  was just wondering how some of the challenges that

         19  you have overcome in making Mt. Hope a realty and

         20  how would you suggest that it be replicated in other

         21  parts of the City? In other words, obviously you're

         22  a model and the question is what are some of the

         23  barriers that we face. Mr. Shultz mentioned the

         24  issue of not having the providers. I don't know if

         25  that's something that you would list or not. So I
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          2  just want to know if you were in his shoes so to

          3  speak, what would you do in terms of making Mt. Hope

          4  a reality elsewhere?

          5                 MR. BELL: I think there is a great

          6  opportunity to really what I think is a small amount

          7  of investment that housing providers and developers

          8  can have the opportunity to really put this kind of

          9  technology into play. The key factor, of course, is

         10  always a money issue. But I believe that cost as we

         11  begin to really explore the technology more will

         12  begin to really go down as Mark indicated on new

         13  construction. We're looking at an average of about

         14  $200 per unit. You're building housing for the

         15  future. You're not building for just today. It's

         16  important that we sort of build with the future in

         17  mind. It would be very similar to building a house

         18  and then installing the cable. Why not install the

         19  cable as you're doing the construction when you have

         20  the opportunity? It's a much cheaper process and

         21  it's much cleaner.

         22                 I think looking at what we've been

         23  able to do, we've wired property that's already

         24  existing and we've spent a lot of our own resources

         25  in doing that. Because we believe that there is a
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          2  real need to really close the digital divide. By

          3  partnering at One Economy, I think it affords us the

          4  opportunity to really not only provide the

          5  infrastructural hardware to make this work, but also

          6  to really create a true linkage and an access point

          7  where folks can get real information and really feel

          8  like they are a part of something that's out there

          9  in the world that everyone else takes for granted.

         10  Many of us in this room are sitting with PDA's

         11  attached to our hips or in our pockets. That's

         12  something that folks in low- income communities are

         13  not necessarily familiar with. But I think everyone

         14  is familiar and understand that there is a internet

         15  and there is a world out there and I think as a

         16  housing provider and housing developer, we're in a

         17  position to kind of put that infrastructure in play.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Mark, do you want

         19  to respond?

         20                 MR. LEVINE: All I can say is that

         21  housing --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think you have

         23  to push the button, Mark. It's okay. Go ahead.

         24                 MR. LEVINE: The good news is that

         25  housing agencies all around the country have led the
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          2  way on this at both the State level and in some

          3  cases at the municipal government level. They often

          4  do it at the stage of the RFP, the proposal that

          5  goes out to developers. At that point, there is no

          6  financing yet. But the details of the project are

          7  being outlined. And there is broad latitude for a

          8  housing agency such as HPD to dictate the amenities

          9  that will be provided and the overall scope of the

         10  project. So we'd like to see HPD at the time of the

         11  proposal simply put in a provision that the

         12  infrastructure would go in. And the wiring in the

         13  walls at this point is really a no- brainer because

         14  to open up a wall afterwards is common sense. It is

         15  vastly more expensive. As long as you've got walls

         16  open for new construction of significant rehab, the

         17  actual cable that we all know, the little computer

         18  cables is pennies per foot. Getting that cable wired

         19  into a network which is the second major obstacle

         20  that Mr. Shultz laid out, is actually a lot less

         21  expensive than people might think.

         22                 We have a relationship with Cisco

         23  Systems which is donated substantial amounts of what

         24  they call the routers and the hubs which ties all

         25  those cables together to make it far more
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          2  affordable. And something that we're willing to

          3  facilitate other non- profit housing developers

          4  connecting with to further lower the cost. There

          5  certainly are entrepreneurs and companies that will

          6  service the network and that will service an ISP.

          7  We're happy to help HPD identify those. This is

          8  really duable and we'd love to see HPD lay that out

          9  at the proposal stage.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: What was the

         11  cost of wiring your building approximately? To wire

         12  your complex?

         13                 MR. BELL: To do all 1,250 units, it's

         14  going to be about $650,000 or so.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: How will it be

         16  offered to the individual tenants?

         17                 MR. BELL: We're actually looking at

         18  from a couple of angles. We wanted to make sure that

         19  all families were involved in the process. One,

         20  there is a complete training program that everyone

         21  in the family can participate in. Not only would we

         22  connect you with a low- cost computer, but we also

         23  provide all the training that will allow someone to

         24  really become proficient at the use of the PC. In

         25  the next phase, we actually take all of our young
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          2  people who are currently already enrolled in our

          3  computer training program and have them actually

          4  become the service providers or provide some of the

          5  service in what a tech service is to those tenants

          6  who are actually wired and on- line.

          7                 We look at it really from a

          8  comprehensive perspective. On the end part of it,

          9  the cost, the users and we've just recently

         10  developed an agreement now with Verizon Avenues and

         11  been facilitated by One Economy to provide this

         12  monthly access which includes e- mail accounts and

         13  complete high- speed process. We're providing that

         14  to tenants which we think the cost is going to be

         15  somewhere about $15 or $20 month which is

         16  significantly lower than what you can get on the

         17  open markets so to speak.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you expect

         19  that venture will come into the black soon or do you

         20  expect it to be profitable? And how do you get

         21  there?

         22                 MR. BELL: Well, we are looking at

         23  doing a number of things. We have been doing some

         24  fund raising to help defray some of the cost. But

         25  we've also looked at from a standpoint where it's
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          2  part of the building operating expense. And have it

          3  really almost another utility the way you would have

          4  a refrigerator or a stove in your apartment.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And so the

          6  tenants will pay as part of their monthly rent? Is

          7  this a tenant building or a co- op?

          8                 MR. BELL: No, these are all tenant

          9  buildings.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         11                 MR. BELL: I think the plan that we're

         12  going to use, is we're going to have it billed as a

         13  separate item for them. They can combine it as part

         14  of their rent payment and so forth. The other thing

         15  that's interesting about what we're doing is being

         16  able to not only link into the Beehive, but also to

         17  have them link back into our own property management

         18  system. So folks can actually get on- line

         19  eventually and send us their repair items or just

         20  correspond with us and be able to access their

         21  tenant accounts.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Is the Beehive

         23  a pre- website, can that be used as a home page? Can

         24  they do e- mail in and out from there?

         25                 MR. LEVINE: Yes, there is free e-
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          2  mail with -- The Beehive is completely free and

          3  includes free e- mail which we call bee- mail which

          4  is ad free, no banner ads, no ads in your e- mail

          5  which is nice. It's entirely bilingual, Spanish and

          6  English as I was showing. In some parts of it are in

          7  secondary language of Haitian, Creole and Russian.

          8  All of which have communities in New York. It's all

          9  written out of all very accessible literacy level.

         10  It's actually written at a fifth grade level.

         11  Although, you might not notice it while reading, the

         12  goal is to keep it very accessible to people

         13  regardless of their educational ability.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         15  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Do you think

         17  there is, either of you, some possible career

         18  possibilities out of this discussion? I know you

         19  mention to your credit that your young people are

         20  going to be part of the service providers sort of

         21  like what mouse does in the schools where they

         22  become service providers in some of the high schools

         23  and even elementary schools. Is this something as a

         24  City we should be looking at for particularly in the

         25  Housing Authority or some of the larger complexes in
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          2  terms of a career? Has that been discussed? You're

          3  obviously doing it. The rest of us are talking about

          4  it. I just didn't know if you think there was some

          5  possibilities there?

          6                 MR. LEVINE: Well, we've got actually

          7  a systemic way of doing this in housing developments

          8  where they are getting wiring. We call it digital

          9  connectors. We work with high school age kids

         10  usually ninth and tenth grade. We train them in tech

         11  support. And then they provide that service for free

         12  in the developments. So you get the double benefit

         13  of the development getting some good free support as

         14  Council Member Comrie said, sometimes the kids can

         15  teach us much easier than vice versa. But at the

         16  same time, the kids are advancing their career. So

         17  we try and introduce them to information technology

         18  professionals from their community who have made it

         19  in that business and so it really serves a double

         20  function. We're doing this right now in Washington

         21  Heights with our partner the Y, on Nagle Avenue.

         22  It's been very, very successful.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And then finally,

         24  do you think that the units that are already been

         25  rehabed or even I guess, you mentioned if there is a
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          2  major rehab, obviously the walls are open and it's

          3  possible to run some cable or some fiber, if there

          4  isn't a wall being opened up and there is minor

          5  rehab or just a group of affordable housing units

          6  that want to participate, what you do think the cost

          7  are? What do you think the possibilities are? Are we

          8  still looking at this provider issue as Howard

          9  Shultz mentioned earlier? How would we approach

         10  buildings that aren't either major construction or

         11  new housing?

         12                 MR. LEVINE: Well, Mt. Hope Housing,

         13  what Shawn has done is a pretty good example of a

         14  retrofit. In other words, these were existing

         15  buildings. Most of them, if I'm not mistaken, were

         16  not being rehab. Some of them may have been. His

         17  cost would be typical and it is more expensive. The

         18  provider issue is the same either way. The provider

         19  just wants people with access to plug into. I should

         20  say that wireless solutions do offer and some of

         21  this is still on the horizon, a chance to get around

         22  this. Because you're not opening up all the walls.

         23  Although, wireless solutions don't always get

         24  through the walls. It's not perfect. Shawn, maybe

         25  you can say a word about this. You really have a
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          2  hybrid where you have some wireless from building to

          3  building which saved a lot of money. Do you want to

          4  say something about that?

          5                 MR. BELL: We developed a mechanism

          6  where we're actually sort of shooting the signal

          7  from one building to another to avoid having to

          8  really run a lot of cable in below ground. But there

          9  is typically one major point of contact or a major

         10  point of origination where we actually bring the

         11  signal in and then shoot all the way up through the

         12  top of the building and through the Y-fi system and

         13  then connect all the properties. So that way there's

         14  less of a need to provide that much more

         15  infrastructure.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And that's

         17  working cost wise? Obviously, sometimes less

         18  expensive for the tenant who is actually to having

         19  pay some of the bills. If that your experience? I

         20  think you are somewhat unique in this approach in

         21  terms of affordable housing developers.

         22                 MR. BELL: Well, we first recognized

         23  that there is such an enormous need within the

         24  community and for us as an organization, we just

         25  don't look at housing as a stand alone item. We look
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          2  at really providing a number of services that really

          3  strengthen families. And for us, there is just an

          4  important step in that direction. The cost

          5  ultimately to families as I said will be

          6  significantly less than what they would go out on

          7  the market and get. What's also interesting about

          8  what we're doing, we've also challenged Verizon to

          9  not only bring in the capabilities of high- speed

         10  access, but to build us a platform that allows us

         11  down the road to also provide video and other types

         12  of services. It sort of an abundant of services down

         13  the road and allowing us to look at that in a way

         14  that's really strategic and a way that makes a lot

         15  of sense. But at the same keep in mind that these

         16  are low- income families and we want to make sure

         17  that cost is always the smallest amount to them. And

         18  the final piece of that thought for us is really

         19  thinking about how to have folks really excited and

         20  really engaged in the entire process.

         21                 There are a lot of barriers beyond

         22  technology that sort of keep families from being

         23  completely engaged. So that's the reason we've

         24  looked at this in a comprehensive way and look at

         25  people to have access to the Beehive and that they
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          2  have e- mail accounts. We're training families. And

          3  we're also providing a resource by bringing in

          4  Proscala's to potentially provide low- cost PC's for

          5  folks who may not be able to afford a new Dell or

          6  some other type of model.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Just finally,

          8  obviously we talked earlier about the antennas that

          9  are on top of poles and I was just wondering if you

         10  have any knowledge whether any private company is

         11  doing that in your neighborhood where you're

         12  building in the Bronx and then second if you're

         13  using WIMAC at all or if that is just something

         14  that's still in the development stage.

         15                 MR. BELL: Well, I'm not sure if

         16  someone in our neighborhood is doing it. Probably

         17  someone is out there thinking about it. I can

         18  probably safely say that I know we were sort of

         19  first out the gate in our neck of the woods. And at

         20  first, folks looked at us and said, how are you

         21  going to do that? We said, we're going to do it

         22  because we believe that it's something essential to

         23  really bring in a large group of individuals and to

         24  really the 21st century. It's something that people

         25  routinely in the rest of America and some places the
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          2  rest of the world believe it to be second nature.

          3  It's something that has to happen.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you both

          5  very much for being here today.

          6                 MR. BELL: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I appreciate it.

          8  Our next speakers are Julia Lynch, Director of

          9  Healthy Homes Project and Alison Powers, Director of

         10  Member Services with Urban Homesteading Assistance

         11  Board. And on the same panel is the very famous

         12  Jordi Reyes- Montblanc who is the HDFC Council and

         13  although it doesn't this say here, Chair of

         14  Community Board No. 9. Who would like to begin from

         15  UHAB? Why don't you introduce yourself and get

         16  started.

         17                 MS. LYNCH: Good afternoon members of

         18  the Committees on Technology in Government and

         19  Housing and Buildings. I am Julia Lynch, Director of

         20  the Healthy Homes Project --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Julia, bring both

         22  microphones. Just put them both toward to you that's

         23  all. Thanks.

         24                 MS. LYNCH: I'm Julia Lynch the

         25  Director of the Healthy Homes Project at the Urban
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          2  Homesteading Assistance Board and this is Alison

          3  Powers, Director of Member Services. The Urban

          4  Homesteading Assistance Board supports self- help

          5  housing and community building in low- income

          6  neighborhoods by training, organizing, developing,

          7  and assisting resident- controlled limited equity

          8  housing cooperatives. Our belief as a preserver and

          9  developer of affordable housing, is that high- speed

         10  internet and computer access are essential elements

         11  to provide to our community for successful, healthy

         12  cooperatives and can help to overcome the income and

         13  ethnic barriers that separate us.

         14                 The internet has become a central

         15  location for communication between communities

         16  around the world. Better educational opportunities,

         17  healthcare and community information, job training

         18  and listings are all available from various

         19  community and government groups over the internet,

         20  but are not getting into our homes without

         21  computers. At UHAB, we saw this as opportunity and

         22  an obligation.

         23                 In a 2002 survey of HDFCs conducted

         24  by CUNY, 61 percent of our buildings wanted more

         25  computer skill training. In co- ops where leaders
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          2  use computers, the computers were being used for

          3  taking meeting notes, preparations of letters and

          4  fliers, and managing building financial accounts.

          5  Higher technology usage was seen in those residents

          6  who participate in shareholders meetings, resulting

          7  in healthier buildings.

          8                 In 2001, UHAB received a technology

          9  opportunities grant from the Department of Commerce.

         10  Part of the ambitious goals of this program was to

         11  bring high- speed internet access to our buildings.

         12  Negotiations with large broadband providers were

         13  unsuccessful to bring the pricing to an affordable

         14  level, nor were they committed to donating or

         15  allowing sharing of broadband. We believe that HDFC

         16  is like other business corporations should have the

         17  ability to share broadband connections.

         18                 One success of our initiative was to

         19  wire all buildings being rehabilitated by UHAB with

         20  CAT5 wiring. Ninety- one units in ten buildings have

         21  such wiring already, with an additional 1,000 units

         22  in the current pipeline. We are hoping that with the

         23  collaborative programs being discussed today between

         24  One Economy, Barnes Wentworth, and Verizon Avenue,

         25  we'll be able to ensure that these buildings will
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          2  finally be connected to high- speed internet at

          3  affordable prices. From our experience, it is not

          4  enough to wire the buildings or even provide access.

          5  We believe that part of the scope of our development

          6  projects should include PC's in every unit.

          7  Computers now are as necessary a part of common

          8  urban life as the common household appliance. Along

          9  with wiring, access and computers; training and

         10  education and continual support needs to be part of

         11  bridging the digital divide.

         12                 MS. POWERS: Hello. I'm Alison Powers,

         13  Director of Member Services at UHAB. In recent

         14  years, UHAB has seen increased demand for convenient

         15  access to informational resources. Like many

         16  information rich organizations, we chose to make our

         17  materials available in an easily shared digital

         18  format. In July 2002, uhab.coop was launched to

         19  provide information to assist buildings, leaders,

         20  and residents. One of our most popular functions is

         21  the Resource Directory which is a bilingual listing

         22  that allows buildings to search for a variety of

         23  services from lawyers to plumbers. Uhab.coop also

         24  contains an online library where buildings can

         25  search for legal documents, training materials and
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          2  manuals.

          3                 A recent addition to the website is

          4  the online forums where building leaders can network

          5  and discuss common issues. The uhab.coop website is

          6  the only existing comprehensive resource for limited

          7  equity cooperative housing. It is designed not only

          8  for existing HDFCs, but also for non- HDFC buildings

          9  that wish to convert. Although, the website has been

         10  very successful since its launch, it would reach a

         11  greater audience if more HDFCs had computers and

         12  affordable high- speed access.

         13                 Another unique online program being

         14  launched by UHAB is Connected Books, an online

         15  bookkeeping system customized for HDFC financial

         16  management. The goals of this software are to

         17  simplify the accounting for the buildings and help

         18  manage the budgets. Connected Books allows building

         19  leaders to improve their business and technology

         20  skills and achieve financial self- sufficiency.

         21  Broadband access allows additional support and

         22  technical assistance from UHAB over the phone to

         23  further promote healthy HDFCs. Connected Books will

         24  be launched in January, but many HDFCs will not be

         25  able to use this new program because they do not
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          2  have access to computers and affordable broadband.

          3                 UHAB has created the online resources

          4  for limited equity co- ops in New York City.

          5  Affordable and accessible high- speed internet would

          6  allow more residents access to this new technology.

          7  As developers, if we would supply wiring and PC's to

          8  every newly renovated unit as part of improving the

          9  housing infrastructure, we would increase the value

         10  of the units we are producing. The City's

         11  encouragement and commitment to expanding the access

         12  to technology through funding and regulatory

         13  initiatives will improve the quality of affordable

         14  housing and the lives of residents. We strongly

         15  support and encourage the passage of Resolution No.

         16  669. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much. We've been joined by Council Member Bill

         19  DeBlasio from Brooklyn. Jordi, do you want to go

         20  ahead?

         21                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC:  Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair. It's a pleasure to be here. I want to

         23  thank you so much for this effort. This is something

         24  that is highly needed. I'm so happy that you are

         25  pushing for it. My esteemed friends at UHAB and Mark
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          2  Levine, they are doing a wonderful job. But I will

          3  just focus on the resolution itself because the

          4  resolution leaves out a group of buildings that are

          5  in the process of becoming HDFCs, that are in the

          6  pipeline of HPD. That have income restrictions at

          7  120 percent and 165 percent of median. Because we're

          8  looking for a mix in some of those buildings. I

          9  would hate to see those buildings left out.

         10                 In relation to that, the resolution

         11  addresses current and future developments. But yet

         12  there are about 1,050 HDFCs co- ops of which about

         13  800 of them precede the intensive rehab that HPD

         14  does now a days and the last few years. Those HDFCs

         15  cooperatives, many of them are surviving on a very

         16  tight budget and it's particularly hard pressed now

         17  with the fuel situation and the insurance increases

         18  and all the other increases already possible that we

         19  can think of.

         20                 I'd really like to see something

         21  within the rest of that to create some incentives.

         22  Perhaps make them J- 51 eligible, low interest

         23  loans, maybe forgivable loans to encourage this

         24  development to take place. Putting on my other hat

         25  of Community Board 9 Chair, within my district, I
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          2  have 140 HDFCs cooperatives and probably a 120 of

          3  them fall into the category of the old very little

          4  or no rehab done to them prior to them being sold to

          5  the tenants. As you do that, there are about 40 or

          6  45 buildings in the TIL Program or some program that

          7  will eventually lead them to HDFC and we want to

          8  make sure that those are also included because most

          9  of them are in the 120, 165 level. That's it. I

         10  praise the work that is being done and let's move it

         11  forward. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you all

         13  very much. I have a couple of questions. One is, you

         14  heard earlier from Howard Shultz from HPD their

         15  concerns and but open mindedness, and then you heard

         16  of the great work that's going on in the Bronx from

         17  Mr. Bell. My question is, can you describe

         18  specifically where you have had some success in

         19  terms of your buildings. And then even specifically,

         20  Jordi has some ideas regarding the possibility of

         21  loans or abatements that could give some of the

         22  older buildings the opportunity to be in a similar

         23  situation as new construction. How have you been

         24  able to manage and what are some of the costs? Can

         25  you give us some specifics in terms of UHAB or what
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          2  the CAT5 Program has done, et cetera?

          3                 MS. LYNCH: With the CAT5 wiring, all

          4  we've been successful in doing so far is convincing

          5  the Finance Department at HPD to allow us to put it

          6  into the specifications after some difficulty with

          7  convincing that it was a worthy investment. But

          8  right now, we are still at the phase where have

          9  dangling wires in the basement and no connection to

         10  the actual internet.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: This is the

         12  problem.

         13                 MS. LYNCH: This is the problem. The

         14  experience that we had with the providing of service

         15  for us was that we wanted to similar to most

         16  businesses share the connection. Have one connection

         17  at the basement that it wouldn't matter then that if

         18  only 75 percent of people in the building wanted to

         19  use it, it wouldn't be a difference. It would all be

         20  kind of centralized. But we're optimistic that

         21  initiatives like this and the work that One Economy

         22  is doing will be hopefully the next step in getting

         23  our buildings connected. We're looking right now at

         24  hopefully -- a lot of our buildings that are being

         25  rehabilitated are in the same neighborhoods as some
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          2  of our existing HDFCs and if this technology of the

          3  wireless point access from rooftop to rooftop may be

          4  possible that the work will include both wired

          5  buildings and buildings that could be wired post

          6  rehabilitation work.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So the challenges

          8  up to now have been the funding of this in other

          9  words in terms of getting the kind of conversion

         10  that was discussed in the Bronx.

         11                 MS. LYNCH: Part of it is funding and

         12  I think part of it is convincing service providers

         13  that may be a way of making it more affordable to

         14  our constituency is to share broadband access.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right, okay.

         16  Jordi, go ahead, in terms of what some of the

         17  challenges are.

         18                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: In my own HDFC,

         19  we took a different tact. We actually went to Time

         20  Warner and Roadrunner and we have actually made a

         21  deal with Time Warner and we actually purchased TV

         22  on a bulk basis that we in turn make it available to

         23  our tenants and residents for $10 a month. The next

         24  step up is we want to get the Roadrunner service

         25  also included. Our buildings are in a very unique
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          2  situation in that they are very successful HDFC.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It has to do with

          4  you being part of it.

          5                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: No, I'm the

          6  least of it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Oh, boy, I doubt

          8  that.

          9                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: There are a lot

         10  of people who are far more qualified and intelligent

         11  and go getting people in the place. I'm just the

         12  visible one. The effort now is going to be to

         13  install Roadrunner in the place and we were going to

         14  do it as of last month, but with the fuel increases,

         15  we have to almost double our expense for fuel and so

         16  far this year, we decided to hold back. But that's

         17  our intent to make it available to the tenants at

         18  also $10 a site.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Have you

         20  looked at any initiatives in other cities or in

         21  other parts of the country that you could model? Or

         22  is that something that we perhaps are somewhat

         23  unique along those lines.

         24                 MS. LYNCH: I guess I would probably

         25  say about that, One Economy is working across the

                                                            54

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  country so that they're kind of our guide as far as

          3  information about what other cities are doing. But I

          4  think another specific example of this is the

          5  cooperatives as you know a model of housing in New

          6  York City on the limited equity side kind of seem

          7  unique to have as many as we do. And the possibility

          8  that they're all clumped in neighborhoods together.

          9  I think that provides us a unique opportunity in New

         10  York City.

         11                 Another, before I continue, I wanted

         12  to say that another obstacle in this situation is

         13  the fact, getting access is one thing, but the

         14  computers themselves in the homes. We've tried

         15  different models of trying to get the security

         16  initiatives to secure our buildings, video cameras

         17  in the hallways and entry systems, intercom systems.

         18  If we can run them over, I guess you would call that

         19  internet, then that may be a way of buying down the

         20  cost of putting computers into our buildings as

         21  combined usage.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Have you had any

         23  discussion with Department of Information and

         24  Technology Telecommunications versus their antennas

         25  on poles? Is that something that has come up?
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          2  Obviously, it's been a little bit in the news from

          3  the health perspective, but not in terms of the

          4  access to lower- income neighborhoods. Have you

          5  heard any discussion of that?

          6                 MS. LYNCH: I've not heard any

          7  specific things about poles. I know there was some

          8  talk about using rooftops to wireless between

          9  buildings.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         11                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: From the

         12  Community Board, I will say that we have received a

         13  number of people who are very concerned about the

         14  antennas on the poles and so forth. Apparently, the

         15  way that the antennas are installed, there is really

         16  no notification to the community before they are

         17  installed except somebody would look out a window

         18  and suddenly they have this humongous antenna aimed

         19  at their face. And of course, there are health

         20  considerations. At a community like mine where we

         21  are already overburdened with all the other

         22  unnatural environmental issues that we have, it's a

         23  very strong concern that we have with that. This is

         24  something that if your Committee can look at some

         25  point, it will really be helpful.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think the

          3  Health Committee is going to handle that one, thank

          4  you very much. But in terms of the issue of leaving

          5  health aside, the question is are these antennas

          6  going up in certain neighborhoods and not others. So

          7  therefore, there will be service in certain

          8  neighborhoods and not others. Both for the business

          9  or tourism on the street, but also for the homes.

         10  It's not clear to me that's why I was asking.

         11                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: It seems to be

         12  in the south of my district.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That's what I'm

         14  saying.

         15                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: But I'm in the

         16  north end. I haven't heard anybody from the north

         17  end complaining about it. But I have heard quite a

         18  number of them in the south end which, of course, it

         19  comes with your district --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right. I think

         21  these are questions that we should all be asking. We

         22  should certainly ask about the health concerns

         23  because the public is concerned about that. But we

         24  should also ask about where they are being installed

         25  and who will benefit and where there will be an
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          2  increasing perhaps digital divide if there isn't. So

          3  you could say that is one pleased that there is no

          4  health concern in my neighborhood because there is

          5  no antenna, but on the other hand, maybe a non-

          6  profit wants to work with the community, provide

          7  information, share the health issues and put up an

          8  antenna with some of the revenue perhaps from the

          9  southern portion of your district which is euphemism

         10  for, of course, the more wealthy portions. This is

         11  something to be thinking about because I think in

         12  the end maybe it would save cost for some of your

         13  residents in terms of connectivity. I don't know.

         14                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: One thing that

         15  I forget to mention before is that it would be nice

         16  if the resolution also addresses the issue of

         17  peripherals, not just the computers.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Yes, the

         19  scanners --

         20                 MR. REYES- MONTBLANC: It should be

         21  scanner and so forth.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That's a very

         23  good point. Thank you all very much. And I really

         24  appreciate your being here today. Our next speakers

         25  are Kevin Donovan, Vice President of Barnes

                                                            58

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Wentworth. While Kevin is joining us, he's been with

          3  Barnes Wentworth since 2002 and been in the

          4  telecommunication for many years. Prior to coming to

          5  Barnes Wentworth, he worked for Verizon, AT&T, MCI

          6  in level three. He understands some of the

          7  installation and project management issues that

          8  we've been discussing here today. He learned

          9  something about electronics from his service in the

         10  U.S. Airforce. And he has technical training from

         11  many companies and he has a degree from Johnston and

         12  Wales University. Welcome, Mr. Donovan.

         13                 MR. DONOVAN: Thank you very much,

         14  Chairperson Brewer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Use both

         16  microphones. I don't know why, but technology is a

         17  little scarce here.

         18                 MR. DONOVAN: Thank you. Good

         19  afternoon, Chairperson Brewer, City Council Members,

         20  invited guests. My name is Kevin Donovan. I'm the

         21  Vice President of Barnes Wentworth, a technology

         22  engineering firm located in New York that has been

         23  working to provide broadband to low- income housing.

         24                 I'll give you a brief background of

         25  my company. Barnes Wentworth has been serving the
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          2  New York residential market since 1987. We have

          3  experience in retrofitting concentrated communities

          4  around the country in such diverse areas as on- base

          5  quarters for the U.S. Army; affordable housing in

          6  Maryland, Virginia, and Florida, as well as various

          7  commercial projects throughout the City. It is my

          8  hope today to enlighten the Committee about our

          9  experiences that may be helpful to the people of New

         10  York City.

         11                 I believe this Committee understands

         12  the benefit of bringing high- speed internet access

         13  to residents of low- income housing. One of the

         14  major obstacles to the deployment has been to

         15  provide the physical infrastructure that is

         16  necessary at a practical and affordable price. It is

         17  my company's belief that high- speed internet should

         18  be considered a basic utility in the home, no

         19  different than electricity, water, and phone

         20  service. It is possible to survive in the 21st

         21  century without these amenities, but it's not

         22  desirable. The same is true for the fourth utility;

         23  information. When providing broadband, a separate,

         24  physical infrastructure is critical, just as

         25  critical as electrical wiring, phone lines, and
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          2  water pipes are to the other utilities. We call this

          3  the information infrastructure.

          4                 When attempting to wire a building

          5  for a broadband network, both in new construction

          6  and retrofits, we run into a common problem. Most

          7  low- income housing builders and developers consider

          8  the information infrastructure an expense they

          9  cannot afford and a luxury that the building doesn't

         10  need. This is true for new construction and it is

         11  even more prevalent in older buildings. The majority

         12  of low- income housing in New York City consists of

         13  older buildings, which we call the retrofits. They

         14  do not include and were not designed to include the

         15  information infrastructure that is necessary to

         16  carry the high- speed data network.

         17                 The problem in retrofitting is that

         18  there is no space readily available for this

         19  infrastructure to occupy, so it's relatively

         20  difficult to install and comparatively expensive.

         21  Once that obstacle is overcome, there are two more

         22  considerations. You must perform the installation in

         23  a way that does not disrupt the lives of existing

         24  tenants and you must conform to the building's

         25  aesthetics. Even with the most creative of plans,
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          2  labor and materials ultimately drive the cost of

          3  providing a network.

          4                 Average costs can be approximately

          5  $250 to $300 per door to install the necessary

          6  wiring, and can be higher depending on other

          7  variables such as age, size, and composition of the

          8  building. It should not be surprising that a builder

          9  will not include this in his plans if it is not

         10  required. Although, we have had limited access with

         11  some low- income builders who have the foresight and

         12  understand the need to include a separate data

         13  network in their developments, the majority do not.

         14  This unfortunately comes at the expense of those who

         15  could benefit most from the accumulated information

         16  that internet access provides.

         17                 We suggest that there are two basic

         18  solutions to these problems that will assist owners,

         19  developers, and builders of low- income housing to

         20  provide for this network in their plans. The first

         21  is for the City to provide a tax credit to them to

         22  help close the digital divide. This will encourage

         23  builders to budget and provide for an information

         24  infrastructure, and it will create a marketplace

         25  pressure for buildings to include it as a basic
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          2  utility. The second is to encourage legislation

          3  requiring an information infrastructure to be

          4  included in all new and rehabilitated construction.

          5                 I want to thank the members of the

          6  City Council and all others in attendance today for

          7  allowing me to share my views on this matter and

          8  I'll be happy to answer any questions that you may

          9  have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Council Member

         11  DeBlasio.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair. Thank you for your testimony. I wanted

         14  to ask you sort of a real world question. I think

         15  your testimony is very straight forward and clear

         16  about the dynamics we face trying to get owners of

         17  buildings involved in this. I had an experience

         18  recently related to affordable housing which kind of

         19  opened my eyes where we had a rezoning in my

         20  neighborhood and after a great deal of negotiations,

         21  one outcome was that the City set aside a discrete

         22  fund for affordable housing efforts that developers

         23  could undertake as part of this rezoning. What

         24  become clear very quickly from talking to developers

         25  is that the specifics of that fund didn't
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          2  necessarily match what they were looking for. The

          3  way the money was being distributed didn't

          4  necessarily fit what they were trying to do

          5  economically.

          6                 It became clear to me that the match

          7  has to be there in the real world of business for a

          8  developer or landlord to take advantage of it. In

          9  terms of these tax credits, I think we all feel very

         10  good about the idea. Can you give us any other

         11  insight as to how to structure it so it becomes user

         12  friendly for the landlord or developer so that they

         13  will want to tap into it.

         14                 MR. DONOVAN: Yes, I think one of the

         15  ways would be to support the legislation that would

         16  make it necessary in bringing it to the building

         17  codes. It's not a necessity to have a data network

         18  installed into any buildings at this point. If the

         19  legislation is there, if there is an education so to

         20  speak to give these developers the information and

         21  make them understand, you've got to remember this is

         22  relatively new. Just like a 100 years ago when it

         23  was phone service or electricity, back then it was

         24  like why do I need a phone? Why do I need

         25  electricity? This is what we're facing today. So if
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          2  the education is there, the information is presented

          3  to the builders and developers and encouragement is

          4  made, eventually it will be as much as electricity,

          5  water, and pipes and all of that are included in

          6  today. Until that, we feel there needs to be some

          7  kind of incentive for the builders to include this

          8  into their plans.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: But I'm

         10  understanding you correctly to say that in addition

         11  to what was occurring with this resolution and all

         12  the good efforts of the non- profits and all, you

         13  saying specifically amending the building code to

         14  sort of, I'm not going to say force, but to bring

         15  this front and center into everyone's planning. Is

         16  that a suggestion?

         17                 MR. DONOVAN: Exactly. That's our

         18  suggestion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: I appreciate

         20  that. Madam Chair, I know you are deeply aware as is

         21  the Housing Committee of the activities recently on

         22  the building code and maybe this is a particular

         23  opportune time for us all to take that step as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That might be the

         25  one topic that all the parties would agree on.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: The one, the

          3  only one when it comes to building codes. Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: There's a big

          6  discussion going on about two building codes and

          7  Council Member has come down on both sides. This

          8  might be the unifying opportunity for both of them

          9  to come together. Have you actually as a company

         10  participated in new construction or retro in terms

         11  of putting in access to buildings?

         12                 MR. DONOVAN: We've done it around the

         13  country itself. We've actually run into kind of wall

         14  in New York City.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So you've done it

         16  around the country, but you've run into a wall in

         17  New York City?

         18                 MR. DONOVAN: Yes. The experience

         19  we've had around the country there is more and more

         20  legislation. There is more and more of an awareness

         21  that this is an necessity in the buildings. In New

         22  York, that has not happened yet. Actually we're

         23  involved with the folks at Mt. Hope in getting their

         24  networks started. So we are in the first steps of

         25  doing it in New York.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So in other

          3  places you're saying, there is a tax credit or it's

          4  already part of the building design RFP from the

          5  City or does it vary?

          6                 MR. DONOVAN: It depends where you're

          7  doing it and from state to state. We mentioned about

          8  the four different elements and you do get certain

          9  developers that are thinking a little bit outside

         10  the box in wiring the network and then going forth

         11  and looking for the providers and looking for the

         12  other elements that you need.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Thank you.

         14  It was really insightful. If you have ideas about

         15  legislation or opportunities that you think make

         16  sense as Council Member DeBlasio said from the

         17  development perspective from other municipalities or

         18  states, we would love to get copies or any

         19  suggestions where we could look on line. Thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 MR. DONOVAN: Okay. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Next is Jennifer

         23  Sly, Community Technology Coordinator at Jacob Riis

         24  Settlement House. And also joining here is Dustin

         25  Goodwin, Director of Community Programs NYCwireless.
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          2  Thank you. Jennifer Sly, I have her information.

          3  Dustin, you're going to have to introduce yourself.

          4  I'm sorry to do that to you.

          5                 MS. SLY: That's all right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Jennifer is

          7  Center for Technology and Science Coordinator, has

          8  managed technology programs an initiative for the

          9  Jacob Riis Neighborhood Settlement House for two

         10  years. She worked in the field of International

         11  Technology such as International Women's Tribune

         12  Center and other organizations. She was a research

         13  scientist in the area of aviation for Honeywell and

         14  she worked on a project for NASA. She's been in the

         15  Peace Corp as a high school teacher and she holds

         16  MPA and BA in music and math. Welcome.

         17                 MS. SLY: Thank you. Good afternoon

         18  everybody. Thank you to the Committees for inviting

         19  me here today and I also wanted to thank the

         20  Queensbridge Houses Residents for their support in

         21  this initiative. My name is Jennifer Sly. I'm the

         22  Coordinator for the Center for Technology and

         23  Science at Jacob Riis Settlement Home. Riis

         24  Settlement is a not- for- profit agency that's

         25  located in, and serves the Queensbridge Houses with
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          2  over 10,000 residents in Long Island City.

          3                 Each week, Riis Settlement serves

          4  over 300 youth, 100 adults, and 150 seniors. The

          5  participants in each of these programs utilize the

          6  resources in our Center for Technology and Science.

          7  Our technology programs range from formalized

          8  classes to providing technology equipment for

          9  activities such as homework, communications with

         10  family abroad, and for looking up health issues on

         11  webmd.com.

         12                 As someone who works with community

         13  residents every day, I can say that access to

         14  technology in the home is critical to improving

         15  their daily lives. The internet can empower by

         16  providing an environment for learning and sharing

         17  information. Our priority should be to provide

         18  residents a place to grow, rather than simply

         19  providing a place to live. I believe we need to

         20  provide residents with 1) internet access in the

         21  home, 2) training and support, and 3) opportunities

         22  to produce content for the internet.

         23                 Access and the ability to comfortably

         24  use technology is essential to every day life. We

         25  had a participant, one parent who joined our
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          2  computer classes because she was put in front of a

          3  computer with no instructions to register her child

          4  for school. She had never used a mouse or a

          5  keyboard. She was completely embarrassed and at that

          6  moment, she vowed that she would have to learn how

          7  to use a computer. Computer skills are also seen as

          8  a clear link to money, a tool to new job or a

          9  promotion.

         10                 Benefits of technology are not only

         11  for adults. According to the National Report on

         12  Speak Up Day for Students in 2003 by NetDay, 97

         13  percent of students themselves reported that

         14  technology is important for their education.

         15  Homework needs to be typed and websites need to be

         16  created. Increasingly, teachers are posting homework

         17  assignments and their progress online. Even on the

         18  report cards that our students receive, parents are

         19  requested to go online to learn more about standards

         20  and what they're children are learning about in

         21  school. As we are all working to increase parent

         22  participation in the home, at school, and in the

         23  community, we need to ensure that we do not create

         24  additional barriers that prevent their ability to

         25  best provide support to their child.
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          2                 I want to take this opportunity to

          3  thank Council Member Eric Gioia, for his dedication

          4  in increasing technology in our schools. As we

          5  increase these resources and more and more of our

          6  school information becomes digitized, we need to

          7  ensure that children and parents have the resources

          8  at home to take advantage of these benefits.

          9                 Seniors also need access to this

         10  technology. Annie Gearlds, a long- time Queensbridge

         11  resident and a senior at our center stated, we have

         12  a lot of homebound people. If they would have a

         13  computer and could get on the internet, it would be

         14  like sunshine. You would be able to keep up with

         15  everybody. Some people can't get out to shop. They

         16  could do shopping on the internet. Many people

         17  cannot get their prescription and they could have it

         18  delivered.

         19                 But first, residents need to be given

         20  the access to basic technology. Studies show that

         21  those with lower income can afford and do buy

         22  computers, but are less likely to be able to afford

         23  peripherals such as internet access and printers.

         24  These essential technology services can be best

         25  utilized by coordinating these services with NYCHA.
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          2  Recently, the installation of an intercom system, I

          3  was reported by my residents, disrupted local

          4  residents access to their own internet connection.

          5                 Second, residents need to have the

          6  opportunity for training and support. Community

          7  based organizations such as Riis Settlement and

          8  other settlement houses can provide training in a

          9  local setting to all members of the family.

         10  Perceptions are common that residents of affordable

         11  housing may not be technically savvy. However, we've

         12  been conducting a survey among local residents and

         13  we're finding that residents do own a computer and

         14  they're interested in learning more. Offering free

         15  or low- cost internet access can be even an

         16  incentive to buy computer. When residents were

         17  asked, would you buy a computer if you were able to

         18  get free internet access, most reported that they

         19  would buy a computer. And residents clearly value

         20  access to the internet. Many already pay up to $50

         21  in month fees.

         22                 Third, content on the web that is

         23  relevant to residents' lives is necessary to make

         24  the internet useful. If used to its greatest

         25  potential, the internet can be used to increase a
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          2  sense of community and to share information.

          3  Community based organizations can provide the

          4  resources and advocacy for residents to produce

          5  content for the internet. We have worked with One

          6  Economy Corporation and currently use beehive, the

          7  website that we've been talking about, as a resource

          8  in our classes. But also our participants, local

          9  residents have produced their own local content. Our

         10  youth has partnered with Josephine's, a local hair

         11  salon, to develop a marketing strategy for their

         12  business.

         13                 I would like to close by emphasizing

         14  the necessity of these services to residents. While

         15  incentives for adding technology to new housing is

         16  evident, I would like to add that residents of

         17  existing housing, such as the over 10,000 residents

         18  of Queensbridge, also need and deserve the access

         19  that so many others take for granted. I'd like you

         20  think about how many of you today learned about this

         21  hearing using e- mail or the internet. And could you

         22  imagine not having access to this technology? Please

         23  support our residents by providing access to

         24  technology in their home and the means to utilize

         25  this resource to its greatest potential. Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much. Dustin.

          5                 MR. GOODWIN: Hi, my name is Dustin

          6  Goodwin. I'm a Board Member and a volunteer for an

          7  organization called NYCwireless. We're a non- profit

          8  organization here in the City that started out

          9  mostly as a user group but sort of expanded their

         10  mission to include community wireless projects. I

         11  work in Information and Technology and have in New

         12  York City for seven years. I currently work for

         13  Cisco Systems and deal a lot on a day to day basis

         14  with the type of technology we've been talking about

         15  today.

         16                 I'm here to tell the Committee about

         17  kind of a unique housing project that we worked

         18  with. There is an organization in the City called

         19  Community Access that provides housing to people

         20  transitioning from institutional mental healthcare

         21  situations back into general society. One of their

         22  primary drivers is the goal to reconnect these

         23  people with the community that they live in. They

         24  originally approached us with this idea.

         25  Unfortunately, Josh Hourback (phonetic) who is the

                                                            74

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Board Member in Community Access, who wanted to be

          3  here and can speak very eloquently to the needs of

          4  his residents, but I'll try to do it justice today.

          5                 NYCwireless being sort of a geek

          6  activism organization with a lot of talented people

          7  and a lot of people who want to learn, decided it

          8  would be one of the ways that we can expand the

          9  reach of what we do is by volunteering our time to

         10  work on projects like this and to help bring free

         11  internet access to the residents, the Community

         12  Access buildings. This started out about two years

         13  ago. It's gone a little slower than I hoped it would

         14  go. But we have accomplished quite a bit and as

         15  Community Access expands and builds new buildings,

         16  we're able to accomplish more and more.

         17                 What we do is we combine essentially

         18  our free labor of our volunteers, both people with a

         19  lot of experience and people who want to learn about

         20  this technology with low- cost unlicensed wireless

         21  equipment better known as Y-fi, and open source

         22  software and low- cost broadband internet

         23  connections that we can share. A lot of people have

         24  spoken about the need to be able to share a low-

         25  cost connection to get maximum value. With this

                                                            75

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  we've been able to produce quite a bit of

          3  connectivity for community access residents at a

          4  very low price point for them. So all of our time is

          5  obviously contributed. Community Access has been

          6  instrumental in finding the funding to pay for the

          7  equipment and I just wanted to share some of the

          8  actual numbers that we spent for the equipment and

          9  the installation.

         10                 Our first building on Avenue D in the

         11  East Village is 45 studio apartments. Our budget for

         12  the equipment for the installation was $3,000. Of

         13  course, all the time was donated. And then Community

         14  Access pays for the broadband connection that

         15  connects. Today, we've heard a lot regarding the

         16  cost associated with wiring each apartment. I think

         17  I've heard $200 or $250 thrown out several times.

         18  This $3,000 includes all the wiring for the wireless

         19  access points. The access points, the network

         20  infrastructure, so this is not just the wires. But

         21  these are the equipment and the infrastructure that

         22  go on the end of the wires.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That's per

         24  apartment or $3,000 per apartment?

         25                 MR. GOODWIN: Per building.

                                                            76

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Per building.

          3  Okay.

          4                 MR. GOODWIN: And then as we moved out

          5  to a larger facility that included studio one

          6  bedrooms and two bedrooms, 64 units, the cost did go

          7  a bit. We still kept it under the $10,000 mark. And

          8  our latest project that we haven't actually

          9  completed yet, but we just did the site survey on.

         10  The building isn't actually complete, but we went on

         11  site with volunteers and surveyed it to figure out

         12  where to place the wireless access points. I wanted

         13  to give you actually a more detailed bit of

         14  information here about comparing the cost of using

         15  unlicensed wireless technology to traditional wired

         16  networks. If you consider the equipment required to

         17  build this network would be approximately $10,000.

         18  And the contractors are arranging for the wiring

         19  that will run vertically in the building to connect

         20  the wireless access points in the hallways, you come

         21  out to about $13,000ish dollars. If you just take

         22  the low- end of the numbers offered today for the

         23  cabling per apartment alone, for 66 apartments, that

         24  would be about $13,200 just for the cables. Not

         25  including any of the networking infrastructure
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          2  equipment. So you can see that just as a rough

          3  sketch, there is significant cost savings when

          4  utilizing low- cost unlicensed wireless technology.

          5                 A little bit about the Community

          6  Access residents and use Avenue D as a great

          7  example. Avenue D is one of their older buildings

          8  and in terms of amenities is kind the low end on

          9  what they offer in some of their new construction.

         10  They had a single PC in their community room that

         11  all the residents in the building had access too.

         12  Given the nature of the type of things that the

         13  residents would be doing, this was a very

         14  uncomfortable situation for a lot of residents.

         15  Because the type of situation where people would

         16  peer over their shoulder and be watching them,

         17  conduct private communication and research about

         18  their mental illness and searching for help on- line

         19  and things like that.

         20                 In my direct experience with the

         21  residents there and talking about the impact of this

         22  on their life, they are very exuberant about their

         23  feelings about being able to take that same

         24  experience into their apartment. What we have been

         25  able to do is fund a few of the residents with
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          2  donated computer equipment. Other residents have

          3  found other ways to get it. And I'll talk a little

          4  bit about some of on- going challenges when it comes

          5  to that equipment. Some of the things that they'll

          6  do on- line is obviously search for jobs that suit

          7  their special circumstances. They can connect with

          8  communities of interest with people with the same

          9  illness that they're suffering from. They can also

         10  use that as a way to reach out and look for other

         11  public services that can help them reacclimate to

         12  the community here in New York City.

         13                 Some of the lessons learned through

         14  doing this is that we actually kind of over achieved

         15  in that we found that there -- we actually had a

         16  large group of users that wanted to learn how to

         17  build wireless networks and were very interested at

         18  the same time in helping out the community. A lot of

         19  these people where people hadn't probably

         20  participated in a lot of volunteer opportunities in

         21  the City. We found that one of the most labor

         22  intensive parts of the process to do this was

         23  volunteers was to actually run the vertical cable

         24  into the hallways from the basement to connect the

         25  wireless access points.
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          2                 In a subsequent installation, in the

          3  next building that we did, the contractor building

          4  the building actually offered to run the cabling for

          5  us if we could take care of terminating it and all

          6  of that. We showed them where to put it and they

          7  installed it for us before the finished the building

          8  which really accelerated the rate at which we could

          9  complete the installation. One of the things that

         10  we're still struggling with is for finding a

         11  sustainable model for sourcing used low- cost or

         12  free equipment for the residents of Community

         13  Access. And then building a program around that

         14  where we could train the residents and continue to

         15  provide that in support. Community Access unlike Mt.

         16  Hope that has a well- developed technology program,

         17  we're sort of struggling how to bring something like

         18  that to Community Access.

         19                 Interesting from the contractors

         20  point of view, because we've been fortunate enough

         21  on the last two buildings to get involved with the

         22  contractor and explain to him the value of this, the

         23  actual line item for the wireless equipment is like

         24  less than the cost of the doorknobs for the

         25  building. To include this in their budget is really
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          2  kind of a very easy thing for them to do. I don't

          3  know the details of where their funding comes from,

          4  but I think a lot of it is from State housing

          5  organization and the like.

          6                 One of the things that we got asked

          7  when we approached this, is why wireless versus

          8  wired line networking in the building. I kind of

          9  sketched out a financial analysis for you, but the

         10  estimate is anywhere from 30 to 40 percent cost

         11  reduction using wireless technology. Typically a

         12  single wireless access point can serve five to six

         13  apartments, that's verses cabling each one of those

         14  apartments and providing a network port for each one

         15  of those apartments, obviously which comes with a

         16  considerable cost.

         17                 The wireless, obviously, untethers

         18  them so that they can place the computer in their

         19  space in the most convenient locations. These are

         20  not large apartments. Use of space is important to

         21  them. There is no infrastructure for the building to

         22  maintain inside the apartment, so we can do this all

         23  in the public spaces which is of concern to the

         24  superintendents and others that work in the

         25  building. The building used the wireless network
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          2  throughout the building for their own needs in

          3  running the building.

          4                 One other interesting area that we're

          5  hoping to do more work in is that because these

          6  networks have location awareness because these

          7  networks are inherently in one place, it's possible

          8  to build community oriented web applications that

          9  connect the residents together and connect them to

         10  their community. And we're just starting to see the

         11  first efforts in the space come into reality. There

         12  is one application in particular called Neighbor

         13  Node (phonetic), that is sort of like a message

         14  board that was created by a student here in the City

         15  in the ITP Program that was for connecting people in

         16  a community together by making it part of the

         17  wireless access point.

         18                 It's get very interesting in that we

         19  mostly think about how the internet connects us

         20  globally, but what's very interesting is that by

         21  building applications that are aware of where the

         22  user is, we can also help people be more connected

         23  to their community surrounding them, to their

         24  neighbors, their residents in the building. This is

         25  a very exciting space and time for this technology

                                                            82

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  in combination with the issues of social justice. I

          3  want to thank the Committee for undertaking this

          4  It's important to understand that by investing in

          5  this sort of technology that we're enabling the next

          6  generation of citizens of our City to be better

          7  prepared for the evolving world. That's it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you both

          9  very much. One quick question is, I know that the

         10  Settlement Houses sometime ago, I think there are

         11  around 32 of you or 37 of you City-wide and sort of

         12  the top of the grants and the Department of Commerce

         13  actually giving out money for community technology

         14  centers and the notion of all that you described and

         15  the reasons for it. How many folks at your

         16  developments have access or have you done a survey?

         17  We know the reasons why they need it, but I'm just

         18  wondering between you and the Housing Authority what

         19  actually has taken place. Obviously, the goal is to

         20  have homework that the teacher puts on at school

         21  available at your development so that the parents

         22  can see it. Because if you're working two jobs and

         23  you're trying to get the homework done, it is sure

         24  helpful to know what it is and then, of course, that

         25  will also be available in the after school center.
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          2  There are many applications. But the question is how

          3  many people can actually access it at Queensbridge?

          4                 MS. SLY: Yes, the reason why I know

          5  about all the report cards and the students need to

          6  get online to do their homework is because they come

          7  and use our computers. We have a lot of last minute

          8  science projects that we help students with. But I

          9  do want to touch a little bit on the survey just

         10  because I was so interested in this idea. The reason

         11  why actually I connected with Dustin and New York

         12  City wireless as I solve the Bryant Park initiative

         13  with the wireless. This is something that really

         14  needs to happen in our community. Bryant Park, has a

         15  lot of resources. We need it as well.

         16                 We've been doing a local survey.

         17  We're just starting it and we're in the process of

         18  it. I can give you a copy of the types of questions

         19  we're asking so the type of conclusions that we're

         20  coming up is I'm finding that residents are very

         21  technically savvy. I just did a really basic run

         22  through to look that many of them already own

         23  computers. Many are spending quite a bit of money on

         24  internet access. I even ran into somebody who says

         25  he has his own wireless hub and he's happy to let
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          2  his neighbors link into it. I'd be happy to share

          3  the results once we get more of the surveys

          4  completed and I'm able to crunch some numbers.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: My guess is that

          6  there is connectivity. The question from my

          7  neighborhood is it's similar. The issue is what's

          8  the content. In other words, how can you use it.

          9  Obviously, the beehive is one. But how can you make

         10  sure that the schools and the parents and the health

         11  center and the neighborhood environment is something

         12  that's useful. With all due respect because my kids

         13  to do this too, the games come up and the other

         14  opportunities. The question is how do you figure out

         15  a way there is enough support so to speak for making

         16  content rich that could be helpful to the whole

         17  family. Then also even though people have

         18  connectivity, there may be ways to be sure that it's

         19  cost effective. Because some people can afford the

         20  $50 and some can't. And the question is to be sure

         21  that it's possible everywhere. I assume those would

         22  be some of the questions you're looking at.

         23                 MS. SLY: Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right.

         25  Dustin, the question I have for you is, you heard
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          2  earlier I think from HPD's perspective where they

          3  have a lot of buildings that they need to retrofit

          4  and obviously the Housing Authority is a very large

          5  structure. I think you would not be welcome to go in

          6  as a volunteer to the New York City Housing

          7  Authority. My questions is from listening to this

          8  kind of discussion and from your experience in the

          9  private sector and listening to Mr. Donovan talk

         10  about some of the obstacles in New York, do you

         11  think that this notion of a tax credit or bringing

         12  together the parties during the RFP, are there some

         13  ways that we can overcome some of these obstacles to

         14  do what you're doing on a more global scale?

         15                 MR. GOODWIN: I think that from my own

         16  personal experience with Community Access, I saw the

         17  difference between working with the developer in the

         18  early stages of planning the building and that was

         19  simply because the developer was interested in doing

         20  this; not so much that Community Access was forcing

         21  them to do it. This was a situation where they

         22  simply had the initiative to reach out and say, well

         23  hey we heard about this. How can we include this in

         24  our plan? I think that obviously by making that more

         25  part a mandatory or a highly suggested or
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          2  recommended part of the process is obviously a way

          3  to number one, open the building up for the

          4  opportunity for a managed service provider to come

          5  in and easily enable that building.

          6                 I think some of the hurdles that a

          7  service provider has to get over when considering

          8  bringing service into a building, is it going to

          9  cost them to wire the residents in. That's a big

         10  hurdle for them to get over. If they can bring their

         11  equipment in and connect to what seems like from all

         12  the stories today, a lot of dangling wires that

         13  aren't connected to anything, that's obvious. Then

         14  there is alternatives where there is certain

         15  organizations that simply will be able to install

         16  and manage their own equipment. I think Community

         17  Access sort of took a leap of faith with NYCwireless

         18  in that, they're like well no one is going to do

         19  this for us. These people can't afford to pay for it

         20  and we can do it fairly cheaply. Let's put in the

         21  network and see what we can do with volunteers in

         22  terms of supporting it.

         23                 By and including some form of

         24  infrastructure whether that's prewiring for wireless

         25  or wired, you take down the barriers and hurdles to
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          2  either a service provider coming in and providing

          3  something or for the organization or a supporting

          4  non- profit to come in and provide the network for

          5  the residents.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The initial

          7  willingness and then the initial infrastructure and

          8  then we have to figure out cost wise how to go from

          9  there. But those are the real keys.

         10                 MR. GOODWIN: And you had asked

         11  several of the speakers today about the pole top

         12  initiative which is a very interesting thing.

         13  Because it is new and I don't even think the people

         14  who purchase the franchise from the City know

         15  exactly what they're going to do with it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think that's

         17  correct. Some of them are probably here today. Go

         18  ahead.

         19                 MR. GOODWIN: What's interesting about

         20  that is my limited understanding is to the way the

         21  franchises were granted, there was no requirement to

         22  provide universal service throughout all the

         23  boroughs of the City which I see as a real problem

         24   --                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It's a big

         25  problem.
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          2                 MR. GOODWIN: -- The way the

          3  franchises were granted. Unlike our cable franchises

          4  where there is an automatic funding that goes to

          5  like Manhattan Neighborhood Network to provide

          6  community oriented services, the franchise grant did

          7  not include any stipulation for the franchise owners

          8  to provide funding to an MNM like organization or

          9  some spin off or department of MNM, if they're the

         10  right organization, to provide a community aspect. I

         11  know this starts to step on really scary territory

         12  because if we say when you grant someone a franchise

         13  to operate a telecommunication service in New York

         14  City, they have to start paying into a community

         15  fund because you can obviously extrapolate away from

         16  the pole top to cell towers and fiber in the ground.

         17                 I think everybody is a little bit

         18  nervous about how that would be received. But that's

         19  a very interesting space and these pole top

         20  franchises if someday they are deployed with

         21  equipment throughout the City providing low- cost

         22  accounts or wireless access accounts, assuming they

         23  offer a broadband data service, it seems like a very

         24  attractive alternative. Because this is something

         25  that maybe from a capacity point of view they might
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          2  not be willing to do. But if you gave them the

          3  choice of giving the City cash or giving a non-

          4  profit cash versus giving out low- cost or free

          5  accounts to low- income users, I think they might be

          6  more amenable to that versus have to fund some sort

          7  of organization. I do think that its something that

          8  hopefully this Committee can take on and in future

          9  sessions is understanding how new franchises like

         10  that can follow the cable television franchise in

         11  that there is a portion of the funding that needs to

         12  go the community efforts.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That's very

         14  worthy. I thank you for saying that so articulately.

         15  I've been trying to dance around that question all

         16  day long. Thank you very much. Thank you both very

         17  much. It was extremely helpful. Bruce Lincoln is our

         18  last speaker. Bruce, please join us.

         19                 MR. LINCOLN: Good afternoon. It's a

         20  pleasure to be here this afternoon and thank you

         21  very much, Council Member Brewer and your colleagues

         22  on the panel. In the past I've represented an

         23  organization called the Community Technology Center

         24  Bank which has been very focused on how do we bridge

         25  the digital divide by supporting community
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          2  technology centers. Over the last two months, I've

          3  spun that organization out under the umbrella of a

          4  new organization called Urban Cyberspace. Our focus

          5  now is how do we utilize developments in broadband

          6  technology to bridge the digital divide focusing on

          7  utilizing rooftops. On the 8th of October, working

          8  with for profit housing developer, that's a very

          9  small firm in Harlem, we built 1400onfifth.com and

         10  that's the first smart and green building that has

         11  been built in the Upper Manhattan empowerment zone.

         12                 One of the key elements of that

         13  building, not too focus so much on the building

         14  itself, but on the roof top, we have a very high-

         15  speed internet connection which we then share with

         16  the community. We have the ability to broadcast that

         17  for a three mile radius. So that's the hub in what

         18  will be a network that will be deployed working with

         19  community technology centers, low- income housing,

         20  as well as small business to get people on a tiered

         21  basis very low- cost broadband with services that's

         22  organized through a portal and with a smart card

         23  system.

         24                 What we're doing which is very

         25  different is that whether than focus  on computers,
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          2  we're giving people very low- cost electronic

          3  tablets which basically in mass we can bring down to

          4  about $250 per household. What we're able to do with

          5  that is give every individual in every family a

          6  smart card where they can then manage their services

          7  and we use as a means to track usage. And the portal

          8  allows us to basically aggregate demand where we can

          9  now bring in certain technology firms such as Intel,

         10  such as a sweet link and such as screen media just

         11  to name a few who are interested in getting at the

         12  fact that increase as everyone has said, all

         13  individuals now really recognize the importance of

         14  having access to technology. They find that

         15  Roadrunner and DSL are at times too expensive and

         16  often times suffer from ban with degradation and

         17  this offers a solution that once scalable, but also

         18  can be made to work with conventional organizations

         19  and with conventional developers.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Council Member

         21  Latitia James came from Brooklyn. Thank you very

         22  much for joining. I know there is a lot going today.

         23  Bruce, in your experience from listening to the

         24  discussion earlier, do you think that some of the

         25  proposals today be it with community action or UHAB
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          2  or what's going on in the Bronx, are these unique or

          3  are they examples of best practices and hope for the

          4  future. Do you think some of the obstacles can be

          5  overcome and if so, how? Obviously there was some

          6  discussion about the need to have maybe some tax

          7  benefits for those who are retrofitting and

          8  including technology, how was the financing for the

          9  building that you described done? Was it done just

         10  because the developer wanted to do it or was there

         11  some special project or financing in order to be

         12  able to make this work?

         13                 MR. LINCOLN: The financing came from

         14  actually a number of City based organizations and

         15  some private financing. It came from the New York

         16  City Housing Partnership and the New York City

         17  Partnership. The original proposal was developed

         18  back in 1997 and at the time, I was with the

         19  Institute for Learning Technology and so with Rob

         20  McClintock (phonetic), we wanted to support

         21  something in the community that would terminate the

         22  Columbia Business corridor but that would really

         23  change our whole focus on how we were trying to wire

         24  the community. It came from basically focused by the

         25  developers themselves to want to not only build this
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          2  building, but give back to the community and figure

          3  out how to bridge the digital divide.

          4                 Within what's going on with One

          5  Economy which gets mentioned quite a bit in this

          6  whole area, they're doing such great work and with

          7  Mt. Hope, that is really unique within the context

          8  of New York and it's being used as a model in other

          9  parts of the country and I've seen it spoken of

         10  quite a bit. I think the idea would be now bring all

         11  these efforts together and figure out a

         12  public/private working collaboration that could

         13  really bring all these practices together and look

         14  at how we could put together a sort of three to five

         15  year plan that could one work from how legislation

         16  is being crafted to how now when Albany, they're

         17  putting together new building codes to start to

         18  address the broadband issue to move this forward and

         19  to create a very strong, I think, advocacy wise.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         21  much. I know that Council Member James just got

         22  here, but we will fill her in or you should come up

         23  and share. Is there anyone else who wants to speak?

         24  If not, we're going to continue. We're definitely

         25  going to have a hearing on December 9 and then we
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          2  will continue the discussion in terms of the pole

          3  tops and more importantly, we're going to have a

          4  hearing regarding broadband particularly in Brooklyn

          5  talking about where it exists now and wireless

          6  possibilities. There are companies from all over the

          7  country as well from Brooklyn who will be joining us

          8  to talk about economic development and broadband in

          9  Brooklyn. We're working with Ken Adams and the folks

         10  at the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce who have done a

         11  survey of some of their businesses to see what kind

         12  of demand.

         13                 One of the problems we have on all of

         14  these issues is thank goodness for everybody here

         15  today, because the demand isn't out there. If

         16  Council Member James and I have a hearing on housing

         17  or rent or topics that are single issue, we'll have

         18  a million people. But this is a very diffuse, we

         19  don't have enough demands. So the fact that you're

         20  here and they're spreading the word that we in the

         21  City of New York want to make sure that we do not

         22  have a digital divide, we want to make sure that

         23  there is efficient fast connectivity for small

         24  businesses as well as schools and that we're just

         25  going to keep plugging away until people know that
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          2  we're serious about. And we'll certainly work with

          3  the Administration in figuring out complimenting

          4  what they're doing. But we don't want to leave one

          5  part of town with opportunity and the other part of

          6  town without opportunity. We're very serious about

          7  that. Council Member.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Council Member

          9  Brewer, though we're not getting a lot of attendance

         10  here today, the fact is that you continue to hammer

         11  this issue home and I think if you continue to hold

         12  these hearings, they will come. You have been in the

         13  forefront of this issue for some time and you should

         14  be applauded for all that you're doing in addressing

         15  the digital divide throughout the City of New York

         16  and raising the awareness of this issue. This is

         17  absolutely critical and I want to apologize that I

         18  was not here earlier, but NYCHA was holding a

         19  hearing across the street with regards to the lack

         20  of security in NYCHA's facility. But as we go

         21  forward in addressing this digital divide, we need

         22  to again provide the internet and need to wire up

         23  all new affordable housing units not only throughout

         24  the City of New York, but specifically in Brooklyn,

         25  whereas I surveyed my district, we have a
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          2  significant number of individuals who unfortunately

          3  do not have access to the internet. My libraries,

          4  unfortunately, are only open five days a week. There

          5  is a lot of issues that we've got to address and I'm

          6  going to continue to stand with you, if it's just

          7  you and I alone, to address this most critical and

          8  important issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. We had

         10  a few more individuals here earlier. Thank you all

         11  very much and it will be continued. Thank you. This

         12  hearing is adjourned.

         13                 (Meeting adjourned at 3:00 p.m.)
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